FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/22/2018 2:49 PM No. 49646-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GULICK TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Aaron P. Riensche, WSBA #37202 Attorneys for Petitioner OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE, PLLC 901 5th Ave, Suite 3500 Seattle, WA 98164 Tel: 206-447-7000/Fax: 206-447-0215

A. **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Gulick Trucking, Inc. ("Gulick") asks the Washington Supreme Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals, Division II, decision set forth in Part B.

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Division II issued its decision on January 23, 2018. A copy of the decision is attached hereto in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under RCW 50.04.140(1), workers are independent contractors if they work free from the employer's control and outside its places of business and are independently established. The evidence showed that: (a) Gulick does not control the method and detail of owner/operators' work; (b) owner/operators work on the open road; and (c) owner/operators make an enormous investment in establishing their own small businesses. Does the independent-contractor exception apply?

2. The Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act ("FAAA") preempts state action that relates to a price, route, or service of any motor carrier. By forcing carriers to treat owner/operators as employees, the Employment Security Department ("ESD") restructures longstanding industry dynamics, interferes with carriers' choices of business model, and penalizes carriers for using a system that responds efficiently to customers' needs. Is ESD's *en masse* owner/operator reclassification preempted by federal law?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Owner/operators in the Trucking Industry

Owner/operators have long been important in the trucking industry. CR1¹ at 92. They are used in most, if not all, sectors of the industry. *Id*. The contemporary American trucking industry, as a business with dramatically fluctuating demand, is structured around independent owner/ operators who contract with carriers for the lease of trucking equipment. *Id*.

Gulick is one of many carriers who rely on independent owner/ operators. *Id.* at 97. Federal law requires Gulick to engage owner/operators through an equipment-lease contract. 49 U.S.C. § 14102; 49 C.F.R. § 376.11(a). Federal regulations provide detailed terms that must be included in the contract. *See*, *e.g.*, 49 C.F.R. §§ 376.11, 376.12.

Although the equipment is leased to Gulick, owner/operators are free to accept or reject the loads that Gulick makes available. CR2 at

¹ The Commissioner's Record is cited herein as "CR" followed by the volume number.

892-93, 922–23, 940–41. If they accept a load, they decide what route to take from the origin to the destination. *Id.* at 894, 923, 940. If they do not like the offered loads, they will often find their own loads. *Id.* at 904, 941.

Gulick and the owner/operators split the fee paid by the customer, 80% to the owner/operator and 20% to Gulick. *Id.* at 898, 924, 937. From their shares, owner/operators must pay all costs associated with operating the equipment. CR2 at 899–900, 925–26, 937-38. Some owner/operators hire employees to operate the equipment and are responsible for all payroll costs. CR1 at 595; CR2 at 922.

2. <u>Procedural History</u>

The Gulick audit was conducted by Darith Lim ("Lim"), an auditor in ESD's Underground Economy Unit. CR2 at 656. In his 3.5 years as an ESD auditor, Lim audited more trucking companies than he could count. *See* CR2 at 657. He estimated the number at between fifty and sixty. *Id.* at 658. The mere fact that a coworker had seen trucks parked near her home was sufficient to trigger the Gulick audit. *Id.*

In April 2013, Lim notified Gulick that he had reclassified 120 independent contractors as Gulick's "employees." CR1 at 386. It assessed unemployment taxes, penalties, and interest against Gulick in the amount of

\$155,133.33. *Id.* at 307. Gulick timely appealed to the Office of Administrative Hearings ("OAH"). *Id.* at 309.

The OAH issued an Initial Order in November 2014. CR2 at 1085. It found that ESD had shown that owner/operators provided personal services for wages to Gulick under RCW 50.04.100. *Id.* at 1088. It further found that Gulick could not establish the independent-contractor exception under RCW 50.04.140(1). *Id.* at 1089. On this latter point, it found that Gulick could not meet the first element of the test—i.e. that Gulick could not show that owner/operators were free from its direction or control—and that it was thus unnecessary to address the other two elements. *Id.*

Gulick petitioned for review by the ESD Commissioner's Review Office ("CRO"). CR2 at 1093. The CRO affirmed and entered additional findings on the second and third elements of RCW 50.04.140(1), finding Gulick had not shown that owner/operators perform their work outside of Gulick's places of business or that they were engaged in an independently established business, trade, or occupation. *Id.* at 1133–39. Gulick appealed to the Clark County Superior Court and eventually Division II, both of which affirmed the CRO. CP 192.

/

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The overarching question in this case is whether owner/operators as truck drivers who own their trucks, who are responsible for all costs associated with their operations, who bear the risk of loss and the rewards of profit, who decide whether and when they will work, who can reject any work offered to them, who decide how they will do the work when they accept it, and who have been treated broadly as independent contractors for decades—are independent contractors. Division II affirmed ESD's decision that they are not. This was erroneous.

The legal issues presented here are pending before this Court in *Swanson Hay Co. v. ESD*, Case No. 95246-9, and *MacMillan-Piper, Inc. v. ESD*, Case No. 95442-9. The Court should consider the petitions in these cases together.

1. Owner/operators are independent contractors.

The independent-contractor exception applies where: (a) the worker is "free from control or direction" over the performance of services; (b) the worker performs such services outside of the employer's "usual course of business" or "places of business"; and (c) the worker is engaged in an "independently established trade, occupation, profession, or business." RCW 50.04.140(1). Division II based its decision on elements (a) and (c). That analysis relied on three errors of note. First, it held that this Court's precedent construing the term "control" is irrelevant in construing "freedom from control or direction" under RCW 50.04.140. Second, it permitted ESD to consider federally required contract terms in analyzing the "control" element. Finally, it gave inordinate weight to one fact whether an owner/operator has federal authority to operate as a motor carrier—in analyzing the "independently established" question under element (c).

a. <u>The Court of Appeals incorrectly disregarded this</u> <u>Court's instructions on the meaning of "control" in</u> <u>the employment context</u>.

This Court should review Division II's decision to disregard precedent construing the term "control." The first element under RCW 50.04.140(1) contemplates control over the "*methods and details of doing the work*." *Jerome v. Employment Sec. Dep't*, 69 Wn. App. 810, 816, 850 P.2d 1345 (1993) (emphasis added) (quoting *Risher v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 55 Wn.2d 830, 834, 350 P.2d 645 (1960)). Because the Legislature did not define the term "control or direction" in RCW 50.04.140(1)(a), it is presumed to have meant the term to conform to its common-law meaning. *Caplan v. Sullivan*, 37 Wn. App. 289, 292, 679

P.2d 949 (1984) (citing *In re Marriage of Gimlett*, 95 Wn.2d 699, 701, 629P.2d 450 (1981)).

This Court has established the common-law understanding of "control" in the employment context. *See Kamla v. Space Needle Corp.*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 121, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). In *Kamla*, the Court explained that such "general contractual rights as the right to order the work stopped or to control the order of the work or the right to inspect the progress of the work do not mean that the general contractor controls the method of the contractor's work." *Id.* (quoting *Bozung v. Condo. Builders, Inc.*, 42 Wn. App. 442, 445-56, 711 P.2d 1090 (1985)). "The retention of the right to inspect and supervise to insure the proper completion of the contract does not vitiate the independent contractor relationship." *Id.* at 120-21 (quoting *Hennig v. Crosby Group, Inc.*, 116 Wn.2d 131, 134, 802 P.2d 790 (1991)).

That analysis is consistent with this Court's interpretation of the Employment Security Act in *Seattle Aerie No. 1 of Fraternal Order of Eagles v. Commissioner of Unempl. Comp. and Placement*, 23 Wn.2d 167, 172, 160 P.2d 614 (1945). There, the Court held that a "reservation by the employer of the right by himself to supervise the work for the purpose of merely determining whether it is being done in conformity to the contract does not affect the independence of the relationship." *Id.*

Division II chose to disregard this Court's instructions about the meaning of "control," because the Employment Security Act was amended shortly after *Seattle Aerie* was decided. But the amendment Division II relies on was *not* to the independent-contractor exception in RCW 50.04.140. Rather, the Legislature amended RCW 50.04.100. That statute now provides that covered employment is "unlimited by the relationship of master and servant as known to the common law or any other legal relationship." RCW 50.04.100.

Division II argues that this amendment "overruled" this Court's "reliance upon common law principles to define an independent contractor" in *Seattle Aerie*. Opinion ("Op.") at 13. But when "amending a statute, the legislature is presumed to know how the courts have construed and applied the statute." *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 629, 106 P.3d 196 (2005) (citing *In re Pers. Restraint of Quackenbush*, 142 Wash.2d 928, 936, 16 P.3d 638 (2001)). When the Legislature amends the statutory scheme but leaves unchanged a provision that this Court has previously construed, the Legislature acquiesces in that construction. *See id.* at 629–30 (despite multiple amendments to the vehicular-homicide and vehicular-assault statutes, the Legislature did not change the definition of "reckless manner" and thus acquiesced in this Court's definition of that term). Further, once

this court construes a statute, "that construction operates as if it were originally written into it." *Id.* at 629 (quoting *Johnson v. Morris*, 87 Wn.2d 922, 927, 557 P.2d 1299 (1976)).

The independent-contractor exception, when *Seattle Aerie* was decided, required proof that the worker "has been and will continue to be free from control or direction over the performance of such service, both under his contract of service and in fact." *McDermott v. State*, 196 Wash. 261, 267, 82 P.2d 568 (1938) (quoting *Laws of 1937*, ch. 162, § 19(g), p. 609). After *Seattle Aerie*, the Legislature recodified the exception as RCW 50.04.140, without material changes to the "control or direction" element. *See* RCW 50.04.140(1)(a). As such, this Court's construction of the original independent-contractor exception in *Seattle Aerie* operates as if originally written into the statute. *Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d at 629. When the Legislature recodified the exception without material changes, it acquiesced in this Court's interpretation. *See id* at 630.

Division II's rejection of this Court's precedent—with its commonsense limitations on the meaning of "control"—leads to untenable results. For example, Division II held that "contractual obligations are evidence of control if they are obligations to perform some aspect of the service for which an individual is compensated." Op. at 14. This analysis renders the independent-contractor exception meaningless. Any enforceable contract imposes obligations to perform the service for which the worker is compensated. *See Quadrant Corp. v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 184, 110 P.3d 733 (2005) ("contracts must be construed to avoid rendering contractual obligations illusory").

Division II's decision to ignore this Court's pronouncements about the meaning of "control" merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. <u>Division II erred in allowing ESD to consider</u> <u>federally required contract terms in analyzing the</u> <u>"control" element.</u>

In finding control, ESD relied heavily on contract terms that were mandated by federal leasing regulations under authority delegated by Congress in 49 U.S.C. § 14102.² Using those terms to establish an employment relationship contravenes the letter and spirit of those

² See CR2 at 1129–30. *Cf.* 49 C.F.R. §§ 376.11(c) (requiring carrier to identify leased equipment as being in its service), 376.11(d)(1) (documentation must clearly indicate that the transportation is under the carrier's responsibility), 376.12(c)(1) (requiring carrier to take exclusive, use, possession, and control of and full responsibility for the leased equipment), 376.12(e) (requiring the lease to clearly specify which party is responsible for removing identification devices from the equipment upon lease termination), 376.22 (requiring written agreement for a carrier to lease equipment that is under lease to another carrier), 379 app. A (specifying required retention periods for various categories of records and reports, including shipping documents and inspection and repair reports), 385.5 (unqualified drivers and improperly driven vehicles adversely affect carrier's safety rating), 390.11 (carrier must require drivers to observe all duties imposed by Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations), 392.60 (requiring carrier to give written authorization for any passengers), 396.3 (carriers must systematically inspect or cause to be inspected all vehicles subject to their control and keep inspection and maintenance records).

regulations. The leasing regulations are *not* "intended to affect whether the lessor or driver provided by the lessor is an independent contractor or an employee of the authorized carrier lessee," and an "independent contractor relationship may exist when a carrier lessee complies with 49 U.S.C. 14102 and attendant administrative requirements." 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4).

The Interstate Commerce Commission ("ICC") promulgated these regulations to make it easier for injured third parties to assign responsibility for trucking accidents. *See Lease & Interchange of Vehicles – Declaratory Order*, 1994 Fed. Carrier Cas. P 38121, 1994 WL 70557, *6 (I.C.C. March 8, 1994). It did so by requiring the carriers to lease owner/operators' equipment and "assume full direction and control of the vehicles . . . 'as if they were the owners of such vehicles.'" *Tamez v. SW. Motor Transp., Inc.*, 155 S.W.3d 564, 572 (Tex. App. 2004) (quoting *Morris v. JTM Materials, Inc.*, 78 S.W.3d 28, 37 (Tex. App. 2002)).

The ICC later enacted 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4) specifically to prevent states from using regulatory compliance as proof of an employment relationship in contexts beyond responsibility for accidents. The ICC explained that "most courts have correctly interpreted the appropriate scope of the control regulation and have held that the type of control required by the regulation does not affect 'employment' status" *Petition to Amend Lease & Interchange of Vehicle Regulations*, 8 I.C.C.2d 669, 671 (I.C.C. June 29, 1992) (emphasis added). But "some courts and State workers' compensation and *employment agencies*" had improperly used compliance with the leasing regulations as "prima facie evidence of an employer-employee relationship" and had erroneously found that it "evidences the type of control that is indicative of an employer-employee relationship." *Id.* (emphasis added). The ICC thus adopted § 376.12(c)(4) to reinforce its "view of the *neutral effect of the control regulation*" and to save tribunals time and "*lessen the likelihood that they will reach the wrong conclusions*." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Multiple courts around the country have rejected the notion that a state can use compliance with the leasing regulations as evidence of an employment relationship. *See, e.g., Hernandez v. Triple Ell Transp., Inc.,* 175 P.3d 199, 205 (Idaho 2007) ("adherence to federal law" was not evidence of a carrier's control over an owner/operator); *CEVA Freight, LLC v. Employment Dep't,* 279 Or. App. 570, 379 P.3d 776, 781, *review denied,* 360 Or. 751 (2016) (federal requirements "do not suggest a conclusion one way or the other concerning [carrier]'s relationship with its owner-operators

or whether they were employees or independent contractors").³ By holding to the contrary, Division II propagates the exact error that the ICC sought to avoid in implementing 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4).

This error presents an issue of substantial public interest because its logical effect is to disqualify all owner/operators in the state from the independent-contractor exception. The federally required terms are necessarily found in all carriers' contracts with owner/operators. That ESD views the federally required terms as license to reclassify all owner/operators in the state as employees is illustrated by its auditors' interactions with Gulick. ESD's auditors told Gulick, before they had seen any documents, that they were not authorized to treat owner/operators as independent contractors. *See* CR2 at 846–47. Because the practical effects of Division II's decision are to disqualify an entire industry from the protections of RCW 50.04.140, review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

³ See also Wilkinson v. Palmetto State Transp. Co., 676 S.E.2d 700, 705 (S.C. 2009), cert. denied, 130 S. Ct. 741 (2009) (federal regulation "is not intended to affect" the independent-contractor determination under state law); *Tamez*, 155 S.W.3d at 573 (leasing regulations are not intended to "have any impact on the type of relationship that exists between the carrier-lessee and the contractor-lessor") (quoting *Pouliot v. Paul Arpin Van Lines, Inc.*, 292 F.Supp.2d 374, 383 (D. Conn. 2003)); *Ruiz v. Affinity Logistics Corp.*, 887 F.Supp.2d 1034, 1041 n. 7 (S.D. Cal. 2012) ("fact that a putative employer incorporates into its regulations controls required by a government agency does not establish an employer-employee relationship") (citing *Sida of Hawaii, Inc. v. NLRB*, 512 F.2d 354, 359 (9th Cir. 1975)).

c. <u>In analyzing the third element, Division II gave</u> <u>inordinate weight to whether owner/operators had</u> their own federal operating authority.

The third element of the independent-contractor test is met if the workers are "customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession, or business, of the same nature as that involved in the contract of service." RCW 50.04.140(1)(c). Several factors, including the worker's investment in the business and provision of the necessary equipment, the provision of insurance, and the impact on the worker's business if the relationship is terminated, are indicia of being independently established. *Jerome*, 69 Wn. App. at 815. Division II's analysis of this element relied heavily on whether owner/operators had their own federal operating authority. This was erroneous.

Obtaining federal authority involves filling out a form on the internet and paying a \$300 fee. CR2 at 797. It would be pointless, however, for an owner/operator to undertake this expense, because federal regulations require that the equipment be operated under the *carrier's* federal authority. *See* CR2 at 798; 49 C.F.R. § 390.21(b)(2). Most small-business owners would balk at the notion that paying for a license they cannot use is somehow the defining characteristic of an independent business.

The Idaho Supreme Court rejected precisely that argument in *W*. *Home Transp., Inc. v. Idaho Dep't of Labor*, 155 Idaho 950, 318 P.3d 940, 943–44 (2014). The Court had previously established the same "bright-line rule" that ESD offers here, i.e. that owner/operators could not meet this element if they operated under the carrier's federal authority. *See id.* at 942–43 (citing *Giltner, Inc. v. Idaho Dep't of Commerce & Labor*, 145 Idaho 415, 179 P.3d 1071, 1076 (2008)).

In *W. Home*, the Court held that its prior decision had "proven *unjust, unwise, and incorrect* because it fails to consider the nature of the owner/operator's business, which serves a distinct market in the interstate trucking industry." *Id.* at 943 (emphasis added). The crucial distinction was that the "business or service provided by an owner/operator is not the transportation of goods for manufacturers or shippers; rather, it is the transportation of goods for motor carriers . . ." *Id.* Because federal operating authority is unnecessary to this model, whether an owner/operator has such authority is "*completely inconsequential and irrelevant*." *Id.* (emphasis added). The court thus took the unusual step of overruling its own precedent after only a few years. *Id.*

Division II's endorsement of ESD's unjust, unwise, and incorrect position merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

d. <u>Division II erred in declining to consider the second</u> element of the exception test.

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