FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/25/2018 2:53 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95556-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GULICK TRUCKING, INC., a Washington corporation,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ERIC D. PETERSON
Senior Assistant Attorney General
LEAH E. HARRIS
Assistant Attorney General
Licensing and Administrative Law Division
800 5th Ave., Ste. 2000
Seattle, WA 98104-3188
LALSeaEF@atg.wa.gov
OID No. 91020

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The issues in this case are factually tied to a specific trucking carrier who challenges a tax assessment; there is no reason for review. First, Gulick failed to show its drivers are independent contractors under the Employment Security Act. That ruling does not involve a conflict with precedent or a question of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4). Second, the ruling that federal law does not preempt the assessment is consistent with precedent and presents no constitutional question. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Does Not Conflict with any Washington Supreme Court Decisions

By challenging in all three divisions of the Courts of Appeals the holdings of Division I's 2002 decision in *Western Ports*, several carriers had hoped to create a conflict for review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). But Division III agreed with *Western Ports* in all relevant respects, Division I reaffirmed its holdings, and Division II agreed, too. *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1

Wn. App. 2d 208-12; *MacMillan-Piper Inc. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, No. 75534-0-I, 2017 WL 6594805 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 26, 2017) (unpublished); *Gulick Trucking, Inc.*, 2018 WL 509096 at *4-6. There are now 16 years of uniform decisions rejecting Gulick's arguments that owner-operators are exempt from unemployment coverage and that federal motor carrier law preempts the Act.

Faced with no real conflicts, Gulick attempts to manufacture a conflict with a 1945 decision of this Court, which interpreted a definition of "employment" in Title 50 RCW that pre-dated the current definition. Gulick also suggests that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *other* jurisdictions' decisions. This is not grounds for review.

1. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with Seattle Aerie No. 1 or any other Washington Supreme Court decision

Gulick argues the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with a case from 1945: Seattle Aerie No. 1 of the Fraternal Order of Eagles v. Commissioner of Unemployment Compensation and Placement, 23 Wn.2d 167, 160 P.2d 614 (1945). Pet. 7-9. It contends that Seattle Aerie requires the Department to rely on the common law definition of "control" when analyzing the first element of the Act's independent contractor test, RCW 50.04.140(1)(a): whether workers are free from an employer's "control or

direction" over the performance of services. But Seattle Aerie was decided just days before the Legislature broadened the definition of "employment" to expressly include "personal service . . . unlimited by the relationship of master and servant as known to the common law or any other legal relationship" RCW 50.04.100 (emphasis added); Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 205-06; Gulick Trucking, Inc., 2018 WL 509096 at *7.

Two years after the statute was amended, this Court acknowledged that its decision in *Seattle Aerie*—at least as to the scope of "employment" in the Employment Security Act—was no longer good law:

It is apparent that the 1945 legislature intended and deliberately concluded to extend the coverage of the 1943 unemployment compensation act and by express language, to preclude any construction that might limit the operation of the act to the relationship of master and servant as known to the common law or any other legal relationship.

Skrivanich v. Davis, 29 Wn.2d 150, 158, 186 P.2d 364 (1947). The Legislature "did not use the language [of a draft bill] incorporating the 'control' that distinguished servants and independent contractors under Washington common law." Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 207. Accordingly, "when it comes to applying the 'free[dom] from control or direction over the performance of services' required for exemption under RCW 50.04.140(1), it is cases applying Title 50, not common law cases,

² Seattle Aerie was decided on June 28, 1945, and the current definition of "employment" became effective on July 1, 1945. Laws of 1945, ch. 35, § 11; ch. 36, § 192.

that are controlling." Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 208; Gulick Trucking, Inc., 2018 WL 509096 at *7 ("the common law understanding of control does not apply to cases under Title 50 RCW."). Gulick's continued reliance on Seattle Aerie is misplaced. There is no conflict.³

Washington courts have recognized that worker classification under the Employment Security Act "is more likely . . . to be viewed as employment [than in any other context]." Gulick Trucking, Inc., 2018 WL 509096 (quoting Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 181); Wash. Trucking Ass'ns, et al. v. Emp't Sec. Dep't, et al., 188 Wn.2d 198, 203, 393 P.3d 761 (2017) ("Persons engaged in 'employment' include independent contractors so long as they perform 'personal services' under a contract and an exemption does not apply."); W. Ports, 110 Wn. App. at 458 (Act's definition of "employment" is "exceedingly broad"). The common law tests for "employment" and "control" do not apply. There is no conflict.

2. A conflict with other jurisdictions is not grounds for review

Gulick suggests review is warranted because the Court of Appeals decision is inconsistent with *other* jurisdictions' decisions. Pet. 12-13 & n.3.

³ Gulick also suggests the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Kamla v. Space Needle Corporation*, 147 Wn.2d 114, 52 P.3d 472 (2002). Pet. 7. But that case addressed the "retained control" exception to the general rule of non-liability for injuries of a contractor. *Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 119. It is not an unemployment case, and it did not discuss Title 50 RCW. Even if the case applied, Gulick exercised for more control than "general contractual rights." *See Kamla*, 147 Wn.2d at 120-21; *see* infra n.9.

This is not a conflict with a decision of *this* Court warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Moreover, many of the cited cases are not unemployment cases, and other state courts have applied their own laws to different facts. The different results, therefore, are unremarkable.⁴

B. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest, Nor a Significant Constitutional Question, Requiring This Court's Determination

Gulick claims that the Department aims to "forc[e] carriers to treat owner-operators as employees" and "restructure" the trucking industry. Pet. 1-2, 13, 16-17, 19. As a matter of law, Gulick is wrong. The Court of Appeals ruling is explicitly based on—and limited to—the unique provisions of the Employment Security Act. Considering federally required leasing provisions in applying the "control" element in RCW 50.04.140(1)(a) is consistent with the purpose and plain language of the Act. This is not an issue of substantial public interest, especially when Gulick exerted more control than is federally required. The Court of Appeals ruling concerning the independent business element in RCW 50.04.140(1)(c) is

⁴ Western Ports acknowledged that other states have ruled differently concerning owner-operator unemployment coverage. W. Ports, 110 Wn. App. at 461-62. Swanson Hay properly rejected other states' rulings as both "unhelpful" and "unpersuasive." Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 210-12; see also Gulick Trucking, Inc., 2018 WL 509096 at *5-7 (declining to look beyond the plain language of Washington's statute, which offers "no textual basis for concluding that the control exercised by an employer must be control it has feely chosen to exercise," quoting Swanson Hay Co., 1 Wn. App. 2d at 210).

Besides, courts in some states have since approved of Western Ports. See C.R. England, Inc. v. Dep't of Emp't Sec., 7 N.E. 3d 864, 876-78 (Ill. App. Ct. 2014); SZL, Inc. v. Indus. Claim Appeals Office, 254 P.3d 1180, 1188 (Colo. Ct. App. 2011).

also based on the Act and facts and, accordingly, does not warrant review. Further, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Gulick's argument that the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act (FAAAA) preempts applying the Employment Security Act to motor carriers. There is no significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest for this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

1. Considering federally mandated controls when applying the Act's independent contractor test has long been the law in Washington, and even if it were not, Gulick exerted control above and beyond the federal regulations

The text of the Employment Security Act supports that federally mandated controls may be considered when evaluating an employer's control over its workers under the independent contractor test, RCW 50.04.140(1)(a). This has long been the law in Washington and was reaffirmed in extensive analysis. *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 208-12; *Gulick Trucking, Inc.*, 2018 WL 509096 at *5 (agreeing with *Swanson Hay*). The issue does not merit review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).⁵

⁵ Legislative acquiescence in *Western Ports* signals the Legislature's intent. *City of Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 346-47, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009). The Legislature may address whether the Department can consider federal controls when applying the independent contractor test, but it has not done so. In contrast, the Legislature exempted owner-operators from coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.08.180.

If individuals are in "employment" under RCW 50.04.100, the employer must pay unemployment taxes on their wages, "unless and until it is shown to the satisfaction of the commissioner" that:

- (a) Such individual has been and will continue to be free from control or direction over the performance of such service, both under his or her contract of service and in fact; *and*
- (b) Such service is either outside the usual course of business for which such service is performed, or that such service is performed outside of all the places of business of the enterprises for which such service is performed; and
- (c) Such individual is customarily engaged in an independently established trade, occupation, profession, or business, of the same nature as that involved in the contract of service.

RCW 50.04.140(1) (emphasis added). Courts must "liberally construe the [Act], viewing with caution any construction that would narrow coverage." *Penick v. Emp't Sec. Dep't*, 82 Wn. App. 30, 36, 917 P.2d 136 (1996).

In *Western Ports*, Division I concluded that it is permissible to consider federally required controls in applying the RCW 50.04.140 statutory exception test—including the written lease requirements under 49 C.F.R. § 376.12. *W. Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 453-54. The court explained:

It would make little sense for the Legislature to have specifically included service in interstate commerce as "employment" only to automatically exempt such service under RCW 50.04.140 based on federal regulations that require a high degree of control over commercial drivers operating motor vehicles in interstate commerce

Id. at 453-54. The court held alternatively that even if it did not consider the federal controls, it would still find Western Ports did not prove this element because it exerted controls beyond those required by law. *Id.* at 454.⁶

Under RCW 50.04.140, "control' in its plain meaning extends to the right to control, regardless of the source." *MacMillan-Piper, Inc.*, 2017 WL 6594805 at *3; *see W. Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 452. The Gulick Court followed Division III's reasoning based on plain statutory language. *Gulick Trucking, Inc.*, 2018 WL 509096 at *6; *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 212 ("We see no room in the plain language of the 'freedom from control' requirement for excluding federally mandated control exercised by an employer, and we find nothing strained or unrealistic about including that control in the analysis."). This straightforward statutory analysis is sound.

Gulick asserts that federal regulations, specifically 49 C.F.R. § 376.12, are inconsistent with the Commissioner's and Court of Appeals decisions. Pet. 11-12. 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4) provides:

Nothing in the provision required by paragraph (1)(c) of this section is intended to affect whether the lessor . . . is an independent contractor or an employee of the authorized carrier lessee. An independent contractor relationship may exist when a carrier lessee complies with 49 U.S.C. § 14102 and attendant administrative requirements.

⁶ The Commissioner's decision is not a "drastic change" from *Penick*. Pet. 19. *Penick's* holding was about company drivers; the language about owner-operators was dicta. *Penick*, 82 Wn. App. at 41-44. Besides, the *Western Ports* court later decidedly held that an owner-operator was not exempt from coverage under RCW 50.04.140.

(Emphasis added). "[P]aragraph (1)(c) of this section" includes certain required leasing provisions. But this qualifying language in 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4) "is silent about the other federal lease requirements and safety regulations governing the relationship between motor carriers and owner-operators." *MacMillan-Piper, Inc.*, 2017 WL 6594805 at *3. Therefore, Division II correctly ruled: "49 C.F.R. § 376.12 does not bar the ESD from looking to federally required contract provisions when determining employer control." *Gulick Trucking, Inc.*, 2018 WL 509096 at *6; *see also W. Ports*, 110 Wn. App. at 456-57.8

Even if this Court granted review to reevaluate whether federal controls may be considered, any conclusion would be immaterial because multiple contract provisions require compliance with Gulick's policies and procedures beyond those required by federal law. Thus just as in *Western*

⁷ Moreover, the Interstate Commerce Commission's guidance says nothing about barring the state law inquiry from considering the numerous federal regulatory requirements. Rather, the ICC has stated that it "take[s] no position on the issue of independence of lessors." 8 I.C.C.2d 669, 671 (1992). The ICC is "explicitly agnostic on the issue of the carrier-driver relationship." *Remington v. J.B. Hunt Transport, Inc.*, 2016 WL 4975194 at *5 (D. Mass 2016). Besides, the ICC guidance does not supplant the plain language of the Employment Security Act, which "does not limit the evidence of freedom from control or direction to only freely chosen employer control." *Gulick Trucking, Inc.*, 2018 WL 509096 at *6; *Swanson Hay Co.*, 1 Wn. App. 2d at 210-12.

⁸ An independent contractor relationship "may exist when a carrier lessee complies with 49 U.S.C. § 14102 and attendant administrative requirements." 49 C.F.R. § 376.12(c)(4) (emphasis added). Gulick essentially argues this language means an independent contractor relationship must exist when a lessee complies with federal regulations. That is not what it says. Whether an independent contractor relationship exists depends on the context and the specific statutory test. Gulick did not meet the test.

⁹ These non-federally required examples of control include the requirement to: cooperate with dispatch; to act in a manner that promotes Gulick's goodwill and reputation;

Ports, Gulick still would not have established freedom from control or direction because of these additional controls. Review should be denied.

2. The Commissioner properly ruled that the owneroperators were not engaged in independent businesses

The Commissioner properly ruled that the owner-operators included in the assessment were not "engaged in an independently established . . . business" under RCW 50.04.140(1)(c) when the owner-operators: were protected from the risk of non-payment by customers, could not haul for third parties during the lease term or for five years thereafter without Gulick's express written consent, and did not have their own operating authorities. AR2 1138-39; AR2 866; AR1 328, 334, ¶¶ 5.8, 20.7.

Gulick focuses on the lack of motor carrier authority to argue the Commissioner's ruling is wrong, based on an Idaho case. Pet. 15 (citing *W. Home Transp., Inc. v. Idaho Dep't of Labor*, 318 P.3d 940 (Id. 2014)). But under RCW 50.04.140(1)(c) and Washington case law, the pertinent question is whether the owner-operator can continue in business and be economically independent from the motor carrier. *See, e.g., All-State Constr. Co. v. Gordon*, 70 Wn.2d 657, 666, 425 P.2d 16 (1967); *Jerome v.*

to check the condition and count of cargo and immediately notify Gulick of damage, shortages, or temperature discrepancies; to protect and promptly transport and deliver cargo to consignees; to install and use specific mobile tracking and communication devices; to follow Gulick's safety rules and regulations; and provisions for levies of fines for failing to meet schedules, follow temperature requirements, or immediately report accidents; and more. See AR1 327-37, ¶¶ 1.2, 1.3, 1.5, 1.6, 15.1, 15.2, 15.3, 19.2, 20.1.

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